RECEIVED

Apr 13 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SIDNEY STCLAIR MOORER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001636

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TAYLOR D. GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Whether the trial court erred in reversing its decision to try Appellant's case in Georgetown County and instead transferred venue back to Horry County, where previously the trial court granted Appellant's motion to transfer venue to Georgetown County, where social media saturation pervaded the case involving Heather Elvis' disappearance and still remained such that Appellant could not receive a fair trial in Horry County, where jurors evidenced their ability and willingness to bypass impartiality determinations at trial, where the trial court erroneously concluded that the convenience of the witnesses outweighed Appellant's right to a fair trial, and where the clerk of court in Horry County was the aunt of Heather Elvis?

II. Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict, where no direct or substantial circumstantial evidence existed such that either the kidnapping or conspiracy to kidnap charges should have been submitted to the jury?

III. Whether the trial court erred in qualifying Grant Fredericks as an expert in forensic video analysis and allowing him to testify in front of the jury based on flawed conclusions, where he suggested that Appellant's truck was seen driving to and from Peachtree Landing, where he excluded all other vehicles based on the headlight pattern, and where his findings were refuted by Appellant's expert and shown to be unreliable?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In March 2014, Appellant was indicted by an Horry County grand jury for kidnapping. R. 1962. He proceeded to trial in 2016, but a mistrial was declared. He was then also indicted for conspiracy to kidnap. Sup. R. 2. He proceeded to trial on September 9, 2019 before the Honorable Markley Dennis. R. 1. Jarrett Bouchette and James Galmore represented Appellant; Nancy Livesay and Christopher Helms appeared on behalf of the state.

Appellant's trial lasted eight days. He was convicted of both charges. R. 1932, ll. 11 – 20. He was sentenced to thirty years on each offense, concurrent. R. 1945, ll. 18 – 24.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in reversing its decision to try Appellant's case in Georgetown County and instead transferred venue back to Horry County, where previously the trial court granted Appellant's motion to transfer venue to Georgetown County, where social media saturation pervaded the case involving Heather Elvis' disappearance and still remained such that Appellant could not receive a fair trial in Horry County, where jurors evidenced their ability and willingness to bypass impartiality determinations at trial, where the trial court erroneously concluded that the convenience of the witnesses outweighed Appellant's right to a fair trial, and where the clerk of court in Horry County was the aunt of Heather Elvis.

Standard of Review

Empaneling a jury pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-21-85 is similar in effect to a change of venue and is subject to the same scope of review. State v. Longworth, 313 S.C. 360, 438 S.E.2d 219 (1993). A motion to change venue is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 482 S.C. 760 (1997).

Relevant facts

The disappearance of Heather Elvis made national news. In addition to a Dateline episode, her disappearance was the subject of a two-hour "true crime" show produced earlier this

year.¹ According to the announcement from an Horry County media outlet, the matter received unprecedented coverage:

Anyone living in or near Horry County is familiar with the name Heather Elvis.

Her disappearance and the subsequent investigation was front-page news for the last six-and-a-half years, and now, a true-crime show will chronicle the case from the very beginning and will try to answer the question that lingers for many today: What happened to Heather Elvis?

Id. The announcement noted that the case “took the national media by storm.” Id.

Recognizing the need to escape Horry County in order to have a fair trial, counsel for Appellant filed a Motion to Change Venue, or in the Alternative, To Select Jury from a Different County, Based Upon Presumptive Prejudice From Pretrial Publicity on July 29, 2016. R. 134. The grounds for the motion were as follows: “Said motion is based upon the grounds that the publicity of this case has risen to the level of an extreme situation of inflammatory pretrial publicity that has saturated the community of Horry County. Id. Appellant had already been tried previously, in June 2016; the case resulted in a mistrial.

An Order Granting Change of Venue was signed on October 27, 2016 by the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr. R. 135. Venue was moved to Georgetown County. Id. The trial court analyzed S.C. Code Ann. § 17-21-80 and examined whether jurors had fixed opinions that prevented them from impartially judging the guilt of the defendant. Id.

Based upon responses to juror questionnaires, the trial court “determined that due to the social media exposure the community as a whole has been saturated with the case.” Id. Remarkably, the court found that a number of potential jurors had posted on Facebook that they

¹ “Heather Elvis case to be featured in 2-hour true-crime show,” *ABC News 15, WPDE* (<https://wpde.com/news/local/heather-elvis-sidney-moorer-tammy-moorer-case-to-be-featured-in-2-hour-true-crime-show>) (last accessed October 1, 2020).

“know how to get around the Judge by just saying that [they] can be unbiased.” Id. The court explored the number of responses which appeared to have been tainted:

Further, of the approximately 100 questionnaires that stated they could be unbiased and impartial, 35 use Facebook, 16 had learned about the trial on the internet or through discussions with other people, and 6 openly admit to viewing part of the trial. Additionally, approximately 10 [prospective] jurors would probably be excused for various other reasons, 4 know one or more of the attorneys involved, 2 know the family, and only 13 of the 100 or so [prospective] jurors said they knew nothing about the case.

Id. The court’s ultimate conclusion was that Appellant would not receive a fair trial in Horry County:

The Court’s primary concern is whether a fair and impartial trial may be had in this case. The Court finds that it cannot. While pretrial publicity is a concern, it is not a paramount concern here. The Court’s primary concern is that, due to social media saturation, a fair and impartial jury cannot be empaneled in Horry County. In considering logistical and expense concerns pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-21-85, this Court finds that Georgetown County is the proper venue in which to try this case.

Id. (emphasis added). Judge Dennis ordered that venue be moved to Georgetown County and that the jury be selected from Georgetown County. Id.

The state filed a Motion to Reconsider on November 10, 2016. R. 335. Two-and-a-half years later, the state filed a document simply entitled “Venue” on May 23, 2019. R. 139.

At a pre-trial hearing on June 21, 2019 before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., the state brought up venue. R. 320, l. 25 – 332, l. 13. The state posited that because Judge Culbertson presided over Tammy Moorer’s trial in October 2018, Appellant could receive a fair trial in Horry County. Unlike Appellant’s case, a jury questionnaire was not done in that matter. R. 321, ll. 11 – 16.

Regarding Appellant’s prior trial for obstruction of justice, counsel for Appellant consented to trying that charge in Horry County. R. 323, ll. 22 – 24. Counsel never waived the

right to challenge venue nor conceded that Appellant could receive a fair trial on the kidnapping and conspiracy to kidnap charges in Horry County. Notably, counsel consented to trying the obstruction case in Horry County because of the ruling that the kidnapping charge was going to be tried in Georgetown County. R. 323, l. 22 – R. 324, l. 2.

Judge Dennis indicated that following his decision to change venue to Georgetown County, he spoke with the clerk of court over there. R. 325, l. 2 – R. 326, l. 2. When he mentioned Appellant’s name to the clerk, her response was “Who is Mr. Moorer?” Id. Judge Dennis pointed out how the solicitor controls the docket. R. 324, ll. 19 – 24. Because Appellant’s case was not retried within half a year, Judge Dennis believed the social media saturation disappeared. Id. Regarding Tammy Moorer’s trial, Judge Dennis remarked “I don’t think there was anybody on there that was seated that had a bias or prejudice.” R. 325, ll. 19 – 21.

Judge Dennis questioned where counsels’ offices were and then stated that the witnesses are from Horry County. R. 326, l. 2 – 327, l. 14. When counsel pointed out the social media concerns, Judge Dennis stated “those concerns haven’t diminished in me.” R. 327, l. 23 – R. 328, l. 4. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Dennis granted the state’s motion to reconsider the change of venue decision. R. 328, ll. 13 – 19.

A week later, counsel for Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider Reversal of Order Changing Venue. R. 335. The motion was supported by nine exhibits and established two main points. Id. First, the social media saturation that gave Judge Dennis heartburn continued to exist. Secondly, the election of Renee Elvis as the Horry County of Clerk presented an unnecessary potential for a conflict of interest. Id. That motion was denied at trial. R. 482, l. 10 – R. 483, l. 10.

On September 9, 2019, Appellant also filed a Motion to Excuse Jury Pool and Continue Trial. R. 414. Through the written motion, Appellant sought to have the Clerk of Court recused and/or to have the venue returned to Georgetown County. This motion was also denied.

As trial began, defense counsel brought up the matter once more. R. 482, l. 10 – R. 483, l. 10. The trial judge again denied the motion. After the jury was selected, counsel renewed Appellant’s motion to recuse the clerk of court based upon the familial relationship with Heather Elvis. R. 587, l. 1 – R. 590, l. 17. The Horry County Clerk of Court, elected after Appellant’s first trial, was the aunt of Heather Elvis. Id. Appellant argued that “the clerk is, essentially, an extension of the court” and therefore there was a conflict which would affect the perception of impartiality. Id.

In denying the motion, Judge Dennis remarked that the clerk was “very much involved with this proceeding” and “in charge of the courthouse” but he asked her not to be in the courtroom. Id. Judge Dennis intentionally never said her name in front of the jury. Id. Nonetheless, her name appeared on the juror summons. Id.

Discussion

Multiple jurors indicated that they could not be fair and impartial at the outset of jury selection. Juror 460 indicated that she “[paid] close attention” and believed Appellant was guilty. R. 486, ll. 15 – 22. Juror 722 also stated that she believed Appellant was guilty, as she had “been watching it and seen it.” R. 488, l. 16 – R. 489, l. 4. Juror 707 advised that he had “read too much about the case on the Internet” and therefore “[had] a predetermined position,” namely that Appellant was guilty. R. 496, l. 21 – R. 497, l. 5.

Juror 438 advised the trial judge that he could not be impartial, “[g]iven how closely [he has] followed it in the media and discussions.” R. 503, l. 16 – R. 504, l. 1. Juror 23 worked for

the cousin of Heather Elvis and had discussions about the case. R. 530, ll. 2 – 10. She admitted to having knowledge of the case and informed the judge that it would be difficult for her to set that aside. Id. Juror 114 admitted to hearing “stuff on the news.” R. 531, ll. 9 – 23. Juror 131 knew Morgan Elvis, Heather’s sister, and saw her multiple times a week at Starbucks. R. 531, ll. 5 – 22. Juror 131 suggested that knowing Morgan affected her “[a] little” and that she also saw Morgan three to four times a week for facials. Id.

Juror 220 told the trial judge that he had knowledge of the case which would affect his service as a juror. R. 533, ll. 3 – 6. When asked if he could make a commitment to be fair, he indicated that he could “do [his] best.” R. 534, ll. 2 – 8. The judge pointed out a hesitation not reflected in the trial transcript and excused Juror 220. Id.

Juror 274 admitted to having “a lot of knowledge” about the case. R. 534, ll. 14 – 22. The trial judge did not dismiss her from serving as a potential juror. R. 534, l. 16 – R. 535, l. 5. Juror 329, who did not ask to be called to a bench conference with the judge, admitted to having knowledge of the case. R. 535, ll. 8 – 19. Similarly, Juror 409 did not know why he was asked to speak with the judge prior to trial. R. 537, ll. 11 – 24. The clerk saw on the questionnaire that Juror 409 had “quite a bit of knowledge” about the case. Id. When asked if that would influence him, Juror 409 remarked, “[y]eah, probably. I would think so. I mean, I seen a documentary on it and my fiancée would love to be on the jury, just so you know.” Id. Juror 409 was excused. Id.

Juror 688 was also unsure why he was asked to speak with the judge. R. 539, ll. 8 – 25. He had “read and seen several things over the years.” Id. He admitted that it would be “hard for [him] to distinguish what [he] already [knew] and heard versus facts.” Id. He was unsure whether he could separate the two. Id. Juror 370 knew one of the witnesses and did not feel

comfortable serving as a juror. R. 536, ll. 16 – 24. Juror 723 also admitted to having knowledge of the case. R. 540, ll. 5 – 25. That knowledge notwithstanding, Juror 723 was allowed to remain. Id.

Many of the jurors also knew witnesses in the case. Juror 637 knew Appellant and was therefore excused. R. 544, ll. 6 – 19. Juror 181 was “close personal friends” with Casey Canterbury and indicated that she would “[a]bsolutely” be affected such that there was “[n]ot a chance she would be able to consider testimony of other witnesses the same.” R. 548, l. 23 – R. 549, l. 7. Juror 723, who previously admitted to having knowledge of the case, indicated that he knew Morgan Elvis and “went to school with her pretty much from kindergarten through graduation.” R. 551, ll. 11 – 23. When asked if that would affect him, Juror 723 answered in the negative. Id.

Juror 65 previously competed in pageants with Morgan Elvis but suggested that she could base her decision on the evidence and the law. R. 552, ll. 3 – 19. She remained in the jury pool. Juror 406 was excused after admitting that growing up near where a witness lived would affect him. R. 555, ll. 10 – 17. Even though she was new to South Carolina, Juror 48 had heard about the case from her hairdresser and her neighbor, who both “offered [her] different opinions.” R. 555, l. 19 – R. 556, l. 16. She was excused. Id. Juror 385 admitted to having a conversation with a friend after filling out the juror questionnaire. R. 556, l. 19 – R. 557, l. 12. The conversation affected Juror 385 “a lot” such that concern existed about the ability to serve as a fair and impartial juror.

Juror 448 worked at Broadway at the Beach and had a lot of mutual friends as some of the witnesses. R. 557, ll. 15 – 21. Juror 51 knew Heather Elvis and worked with her previously.

R. 557, l. 22 – R. 558, l. 2. Juror 640 indicated that her husband was “actually really good friends with Heather.” R. 558, ll. 5 – 11.

One of the state’s witnesses, Jessica Cooke, was the front of the house manager at Tilted Kilt. R. 635, l. 18 – R. 636, l. 8. Heather Elvis also worked at Tilted Kilt. Id. On cross-examination, Cooke agreed that it was “safe to say that the disappearance of Heather and the investigation going on was highly publicized.” R. 665, ll. 15 – 24.

Circuit judges in South Carolina have the power to change venue in criminal cases. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-21-80. Following a motion by one of the parties with supporting evidence that a fair and impartial cannot be had in the original county, a circuit court judge may order that the case be removed to another county in the same circuit. Id. In a case where the circuit court judge determines that an unbiased jury cannot be selected from the county where venue currently lies, the judge may instead order that jury selection go forward in some other county. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-21-85. “Transfer of a jury pursuant to § 17-21-85 is similar in effect to a change of venue.” State v. Longworth, 313 S.C. 360, 438 S.E.2d 219 (1993). There are multiple considerations at play for when jury selection in a criminal case is conducted in another county:

In making a determination whether to proceed as allowed by this section or to order a change of venue for a trial, the court shall consider all the logistical and expense elements and, consistent with the demands of justice, choose the method that results in the least expense and greatest convenience for all parties involved in the case.

Id. In Appellant’s case, the original Order Granting Change of Venue made the proper considerations under S.C. Code Ann. § 17-21-85, but the ultimate ruling to change venue to Georgetown County was under S.C. Code Ann. § 17-21-80.

In a death penalty appeal approximately seven years ago, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that a defendant failed to show actual juror prejudice as a result of pretrial publicity

and was therefore not entitled to a change of venue. State v. Stanko, 402 S.C. 252, 741 S.E.2d 708 (2013), overruled on other grounds by State v. Burdette, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019). The Court examined both the number of jurors who knew about the case as well as the extent of their knowledge. Id. at 278, 741 S.E.2d at 721. The trial court in Stanko concluded that the vast majority of jurors knew nothing about the case:

A few of them know [Appellant's] name. That's on the questionnaire they were given... It's no kind of pretrial publicity of any kind. And the one person that said they had some kind of information, again, without equivocation of any kind, indicated that they could set it aside.

Id. Contrast that with the matter *sub judice* where multiple jurors stated that they had already formed beliefs as to Appellant's guilt. In affirming his conviction, the Court in Stanko held that he failed to prove prejudice: "In the instant case, Appellant fails to present even one juror who stated he or she could not ignore exposure to pretrial publicity prior to serving as a juror." Id. at 278, 741 S.E.2d at 721-22. At least half a dozen jurors in the matter at bar outright confessed to their inability to be fair. Some professed an inability to separate facts gleaned from the news from testimony elicited at trial while others admitted to having already formed an opinion as to Appellant's guilt. The jury pool in Horry County was tainted with years of exposure to this case which manifested in countless

More recently, in United States v. Tsarnaev, the United States Court of Appeals, First Circuit, vacated the death sentences of Dzhokhar Tsarnaev, one of individuals charged in connection with the Boston Marathon bombings. 968 F.3d 24 (1st Cir. 2020). The opinion listed seven highlights following coverage of the incident via traditional press and social media platforms, including 1) how the reporting misstated some of the facts; 2) Tsarnaev's non-Miranda-ized statements to law enforcement at the hospital which were not introduced at trial; and 3) exploration of the decedents' lives and badly injured survivors. Id. at 43. A footnote

even referenced the number of views on videos uploaded to Youtube on the *Boston Globe* account. Id. n. 13.

Tsarnaev hired an expert who collected polling data which showed that potential jurors in the court's Eastern Division were more likely to consider him guilty than those in other divisions. Id. at 43. Tsarnaev's counsel moved for a change of venue, arguing that the circumstances triggered a presumption of prejudice in the District of Massachusetts. Id. The judge denied the motion, finding that neither the defense's expert nor his newspaper analysis "persuasively show[ed] that the media coverage has contained blatantly prejudicial information that prospective jurors could not reasonable be expected to cabin or ignore." Id. at 44. The judge also concluded that the "decibel level of media attention" had "diminished somewhat." Id. Additional change-of-venue motions were filed and similarly rejected. Id. at 44 – 54. In a lengthy opinion, the First Circuit held "the [trial] judge qualified jurors who had already formed an opinion that Dzhokhar was guilty—and he did so in large part because they answered "yes" to the question whether they could decide this high-profile case based on the evidence." Id. at 58-9. Notably, the court held:

Yet by not having the jurors identify what it was they already thought they knew about the case, the judge made it too difficult for himself and the parties to determine both the nature of any taint (*e.g.* whether the juror knew something prejudicial not to be conceded at trial) and the possible remedies for the taint. This was an error of law and so an abuse of discretion.

Id. (internal citations omitted).

Likewise, it was an abuse of discretion for this case to be tried in Horry County. In the original Order Granting Change of Venue, Judge Dennis referenced Facebook posts from potential jurors that they "know how to get around the Judge by saying that the[y] can be unbiased." The state presented no evidence that such taint disappeared.

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