STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
Apr 28 2021
SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Horry County
Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

SIDNEY ST. CLAIR MOORER,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2019-001636

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1276
Conway, SC 29528

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

At trial

Prior to jury selection, Appellant moved again for a change of venue. Judge Dennis, in response to renewal of the motion noted that 173 jurors out of over three hundred jurors indicated they had no knowledge of the incident. R. p. 482. Judge Dennis indicated Appellant’s motion continues until the jury is empaneled. R. pp. 482-83.

During jury selection, fifteen jurors were individually questioned, eleven based on their survey responses, that were exempted or dismissed, following conversations outside the hearing of other jurors: R. pp. 486-87 (juror 460); pp. 488-89 (j-722); pp. 496-97 (j-707); p. 503-04 (j-438); p. 527 (j-151); p. 530 (j. 23); p. 532 (j-131); pp. 532-34 (j-220); p. 536 (j-370); p. 537 (j-409); p. 539 (j-

688); p. 555 (j-406, lived near 814); pp. 555-56 (j-48, told about case by neighbor); pp. 556-57 (j-385, discussed case since survey); pp. 562-63 (j-634, knows a lot about the case). Only four other jurors indicated they knew something about the case in the surveys. They all responded they could be fair and impartial: jurors 114 (R. p. 531, can be fair and impartial); 274 (R. pp. 534-35, can be fair to both sides); 329 (R. p. 535, can be fair and impartial); and 723 (R. p. 540, can base judgment on what is heard in the courtroom). None of those jurors were seated on the jury. R. pp. 567-77. Accordingly, the record reflects that none of the jurors seated were aware of the facts of the case before being selected.

Judge Dennis later stated the questionnaire “was extremely helpful” and expressed satisfaction with the results of the process, sharing his view, “[F]or me, as a judge, I felt better about it after we saw the number of people that we had that were here to be selected. And, frankly, I think the jury is quite impressive, considering everything we were concerned about.” R. p. 590, lines 2-7.

Standard of review and analysis of case law

“A motion to change venue is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial [court] and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Stanko, 402 S.C. 252, 276, 741 S.E.2d 708, 721 (2013) *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Burdette, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019). The defendant carries the “burden to demonstrate actual juror prejudice” to warrant a change in venue. State v. Owens, 293 S.C. 161, 167, 359 S.E.2d 275, 278 (1987).

Certainly, use of voir dire examination to screen potential jurors prejudiced by pretrial publicity is a reasonable process to ensure a fair and impartial jury was selected. *See* State v. Thompson, 278 S.C. 1, 8, 292 S.E.2d 581, 585 (1982) *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991). In Thompson, the trial judge denied the motion for

change of venue, but allowed for the motion to be reraised after voir dire examination if an impartial panel was unobtainable. The judge concluded after extensive voir dire proceedings that an impartial jury was seated. The Supreme Court affirmed, concluding, “The record reveals that the trial judge took every precaution to insure the elimination of potential jurors that may have been prejudiced by the pretrial publicity, and the absence of prejudice on the part of those chosen to serve.” Id. at 8-9, 292 S.E.2d at 585-86.

“When a trial judge bases the denial of a motion for a change of venue because of pretrial publicity upon an adequate voir dire examination of the jurors, his decision will not be disturbed absent extraordinary circumstances.” State v. Caldwell, 300 S.C. 494, 502, 388 S.E.2d 816, 821 (1990). “Mere exposure to pretrial publicity does not automatically disqualify a prospective juror.” Id. “When jurors have been exposed to such publicity, a denial of a change of venue is not error where jurors are found to have the ability to lay aside any impressions or opinions and render a verdict based on the evidence presented at trial. . . . It is the defendant’s burden to demonstrate actual juror prejudice as a result of such publicity.” Id. (internal citation omitted).

In Caldwell, *eleven* seated jurors and two alternate jurors were aware of media coverage of the murder for which Caldwell was on trial. The Supreme Court observed, “While a number of jurors were aware of the crime, those jurors expressed to the trial judge no doubt or reservation of their ability to impartially serve as a juror and to decide the matter solely on the evidence presented.” Caldwell, 300 S.C. at 502, 388 S.E.2d at 821.

In State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 13-14, 482 S.E.2d 760, 764 (1997), the Supreme Court, citing Caldwell observed, “only seven” jurors seated knew something about the case. The trial judge disqualified six jurors who indicated they could not be impartial due to facts they knew about the

case. The remaining jurors advised they could be objective and put aside any knowledge they had about the case. The Supreme Court found the trial judge did not abuse his discretion.

The Supreme Court found the trial judge erred in granting the State's motion to change venue in State v. Manning, 329 S.C. 1, 5, 495 S.E.2d 191, 192-93 (1997), despite the results of a survey of jurors showing fifty-three of the fifty-seven jurors "had knowledge of the case itself" and seven jurors were related to the defendant or trial witnesses. Jurors for the Dillon County charge were drawn from Lancaster County. As the Supreme Court noted, the defendant was previously tried in Dillon County with Dillon County jurors, without the State claiming the jury selected was not impartial.

The Supreme Court noted, "The moving party bears the burden of showing actual juror prejudice as a result of . . . publicity." Manning, 329 S.C. at 8, 495 S.E.2d at 194. "If a change of venue is sought on the basis of pretrial publicity, the general practice is to postpone ruling on that motion until the jury panel is voir dired." Id. "The relevant question is not whether the community remembered the case, but whether the jurors . . . had such fixed opinions that they could not judge impartially the guilt of the defendant." Id. (citations and internal quotation marks removed). The Supreme Court found the trial judge erred in changing venue because no evidentiary facts supported finding actual prejudice to the State. Supporting the holding, the Supreme Court observed, "No evidence was presented indicating there were difficulties in seating a jury in the August 1993 trial or the August 1993 jury was unfair or partial to the appellant. [The judge's] decision was made almost seven months before the 1995 trial and the 1995 trial occurred 1 ½ years after the 1993 mistrial." Id. at 10, 495 S.E.2d at 195.

In the instant case, Judge Dennis, when reversing an earlier decision to change venue, took

the precaution of sending prospective jurors questionnaires. More than half knew nothing about the case. Various jurors attesting they knew about the case were excused following voir dire. Only those indicating they could remain fair and impartial remained, and none of them were seated as jurors. Unlike Caldwell, where eleven of twelve jurors knew about the case, the record fails to reflect a single juror that was familiar with the case prior to serving on the jury.

Further, defense counsel's motion patently lacked merit. Defense counsel admitted consenting to venue for the obstruction trial as a matter of "trial strategy." R. pp. 324-25. Obviously, defense counsel's strategy in the obstruction case was not to eschew a fair and impartial jury, and the instant case, defense counsel never argued the jury selected was incapable of being fair and impartial. Moreover, the retrial occurred more than three years since the mistrial, which allowed time for interest in the case to dissipate as in Manning. Accordingly, Appellant fails to establish actual prejudice from the denial of a change of venue.

Appellant attempts to show prejudice by reference to a promotional story in May 2020, announcing a true-crime program, which did not premier until May 27, 2020. The trial was in September 2019. See Br. of App. p. 4. Further, Appellant relies on Google Trends, arguing this Court should take judicial notice of Google Trends. Since Appellant did not present Judge Dennis with Google Trends data, Judge Dennis could not have erred in failing to take it into account. Further, Appellant claims the accuracy of Google's records of searches cannot reasonably be questioned. However, the information provided by Google Trends is not relevant or reliable in determining if a fair and impartial jury could be impaneled. First, Google bases its trend reports on sample data and warns: "Google Trends is not a scientific poll and shouldn't be confused with

polling data.”¹ Second, Google Trends does not provide a quantitative value, but a relative value. Every term will register a point value of 100 at its highest occurrence. The information does not indicate whether that highest point is 10 searches or 10,000. Additionally, the geographic comparisons are not based on raw numbers, but are weighted according to the population base of the different geographic areas.² Moreover, Appellant misrepresents the results, claiming the overwhelming interest was from Myrtle Beach. However, the area specified in the results is the Myrtle Beach-Florence metropolitan area, extending beyond Horry County. In the end, Google Trends does not offer a reasonable substitute for the trial judge’s careful examination of jurors with media exposure and his ability to discern whether a fair and impartial jury was actually empaneled; and it does not even qualify as information to which judicial notice may properly be taken. Masters v. Rodgers Development Group, 283 S.C. 251, 256, 321 S.E.2d 194, 197 (Ct. App. 1984) (“Appellate courts are generally reluctant to notice adjudicative facts even when those facts may be absolutely reliable. . . . Notice of ‘facts’ for the first time on appeal may deny the adverse party the opportunity to contest the matters noticed; it may also violate the general principle that appellate review should be limited to the record. . . . Finally, appellate courts, limited to the ‘cold’ record, cannot be as sensitive to the appropriateness of judicial notice as the trial judge.” (citations omitted)).

A separate issue raised is Appellant’s contention on appeal that venue should have been changed because Victim’s aunt is the elected clerk of court for Horry County. Initially, Appellant addressed this issue in a motion to reconsider Judge Dennis’s January 2019 order returning venue to

¹FAQ about Google Trends data (available at https://support.google.com/trends/answer/4365533?hl=en&ref_topic+6248052) (last visited February 2, 2021).

² See Lewis, Chris What Google Trends Teaches Us About When to Trust Data (Aug. 30, 2019) <https://www.semrush.com/blog/what-google-trends-teaches-us-trust-data/> (last visited February 2, 2020).

Horry County, suggesting “Given that an apparent conflict of interest and/or appearance of impropriety exists, the Defendant respectfully suggests the following solutions: (1) recuse the Horry County Clerk of Court, (2) Order that the Clerk of Court take no action regarding empaneling or excusing potential jurors without Court review and approval, or (3) return venue to Georgetown County.” R. pp. 337-38.

Appellant’s counsel raised the issue following jury selection, admitting, “[S]o we’re perfectly clear, we haven’t alleged any impropriety, bad intent, bad faith intent of the Clerk of Court” R. p. 587, lines 14-20. Appellant’s counsel explained: “We initially addressed this in our motion to reconsider the venue issue, We offered a couple of different alternatives how to address the issue. But we said, listen, we would submit that this is, at least, a perceived conflict, and that you should not go forward on this ground.” R. pp. 587-88.

Judge Dennis then explained his approach to the issue:

I understand the essence of your position. Frankly, I asked the clerk – because she’s very much involved with the proceeding, as she should be, she’s in charge of the courthouse, but I asked her this morning to not be in the courtroom, to let her assistants handle it. If you recall – and I typically identify the clerk when I comment to the jury that so-and-so is a great clerk and does a good job – I never said her name today. That was intentional.

R. p. 588, lines 10-20. Judge Dennis acknowledged the Clerk of Court’s name appeared on the jury summons. R. p. 589, lines 3-6.

Once Judge Dennis explained the actions he took, defense counsel made no further objection nor contended the remedial measures Judge Dennis had taken were insufficient. See State v. Barton, 325 S.C. 522, 529, 481 S.E.2d 439, 443 (Ct. App. 1997) (noting the conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the trial judge); see generally State v. Parris, 387 S.C. 460, 465,

692 S.E.2d 207, 209 (Ct. App. 2010) (There is no issue for the appellate court to decide if a defendant receives the relief requested from the trial court).

While Appellant seemed concerned with the potential for conflict at trial, Appellant has not pointed to any actual prejudice from Clerk Elvis' name appearing on the summons. It is doubtful many potential jurors noticed the name of the clerk and not automatic that the jurors would assume a relationship between Victim and the clerk merely because they shared the last name. There is no evidence in the record any jurors were aware of the connection. Further, there is no indication that Clerk Elvis personally took any action or was involved in the empaneling or excusing of potential jurors. Notably, Appellant's defense counsel did not assert the jury selected was tainted by any actions by Clerk Elvis. Judge Dennis ensured Clerk Elvis did not interact with or otherwise be present before the jury, or present in the courtroom. Therefore, her involvement, if any, was far too peripheral to weigh upon the jurors' minds.

Authorities Appellant relies on have little semblance to the present case. For instance, United States v. Kraus, 137 F.3d 447 (7th Cir. 1998) deals with the application of Rule 11, Fed. Rules Cr. Proc. In that case, the district judge rejected a plea bargain reached between the AUSA and the defendant. The AUSA asked the judge if there was any possibility of the parties reaching an agreement the district judge would accept. The essence of the district judge's reply was the proposed 121-month sentence was too low to accept. The next day the AUSA asked the district courtroom's clerk her opinion about a potential agreement with a cap of 151 months. The clerk remarked the revision appeared to have credence although she could not predict what the district judge would accept. The AUSA subsequently spoke with Kraus' attorney about the proposed offer and revealed she spoke with the room clerk, conveying the substance of the clerk's reaction to the cap. When

Kraus' attorney discussed the revised offer with Kraus, Kraus asked why he did not negotiate a cap of 135 months (mid-range of the sentencing guidelines) and his attorney told him that based on the clerk's remarks, it was apparent the district judge would not accept a cap of less than 151 months. The Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals reviewed whether Rule 11's prohibition on a trial court's participation in plea discussions was violated. Reviewing the district judge's remarks in conjunction with case law, the Seventh Circuit concluded: "[R]emarks directed to future or ongoing plea negotiations which suggest what will satisfy the court transform the court from an impartial arbiter to a participant in the plea negotiations." *Id.* at 455. The Seventh Circuit found the clerk's involvement, seemingly benign in purpose, compounded the problem, noting: "Judicial employees, whether they be law clerks, secretaries, or courtroom deputy clerks, enjoy access to a judge's innermost thoughts." *Id.* at 456. However, the Seventh Circuit found the problem was more than appearance, but one of effect as the clerk's involvement in the plea discussions influenced the subsequent negotiations [and defense counsel's advice]. The Seventh Circuit concluded the violation of Rule 11 was not harmless and "vacating a plea and sentence that may have been affected by such participation best serves the prophylactic purpose of the rule." *Id.* at 458.

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